RECEIVED

05-24-2013

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2013AP358-CR	
STATE OF WISCONSIN,	_
Plaintiff-Respondent, v.	
MARK ALAN SPERBER,	
Defendant-Appellant.	
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF	_

MILLER APPELLATE PRACTICE, LLC

Attorneys for the Defendant-Appellant By Steven L. Miller #1005582 P.O. Box 655 River Falls, WI 54022 (715) 425-9780

On appeal from the Circuit Court of Brown County, Hon. Marc Hammer, Circuit Judge, presiding.

ISSUES FOR REVIEW

1. Was trial counsel ineffective when, in response to the jury twice asking for clarification, he failed to seek an instruction that defendant had to know the accident involved another person at the time it occurred?

The Trial Court Answered: "No."

2. Was the real controversy fully tried when the pattern instruction did not specify when the defendant had to know the accident involved another person, the jury twice asked for clarification as to when the defendant had to know, and the trial court refused to re-instruct?

The Trial Court Answered: "Yes."

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument and publication are not requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mark Sperber (Sperber) was charged on January 31, 2011, with one count of Hit and Run Involving Death, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.67(1), a class D felony, for an incident that occurred on January 25, 2011. A four-day jury trial was held on November 14-17, 2011. The contested issue was whether Sperber was aware the accident involved a person at the time it occurred. The standard pattern instruction does not specify when the defendant had to know the accident involved another person, and the jury twice asked the trial court to clarify this point. The trial court, however, did not do so but rather directed the jury to re-read the instructions already given. The jury found Sperber guilty. Sperber was sentenced on February 9, 2012, to a 20 year sentence, with 10 years of initial confinement. (82; Appendix ("A"), p. 1-2).

Sperber filed a motion for postconviction relief on October 29, 2012. (89). The parties stipulated to trial counsel's testimony. (104.2; A:19-20). The matter was briefed and on January 31, 2013, the trial court rendered an oral decision. (119; A:3-17). A written order denying Sperber's postconviction motion was filed on February 4, 2013. (99; A:18). Sperber filed a notice of appeal February 13, 2013. The record was filed with the Court of Appeals on March 28, 2013. In an order dated May 3, 2013, this Court extended the time for Sperber to file his brief-in-chief to May 24, 2013.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The Accident

At the time of trial, Sperber was 40 years old living with his wife in rural Forestville, Wisconsin, about 40 miles northeast of Green Bay. He was an 18-year employee of Roland Machinery, a heavy equipment dealer and servicing company located in De Pere, Wisconsin. (114:294; 116:526). He started out as a technician's assistant, became a field service technician in 1996, and in 2005 was promoted to corporate trainer. (116:526).

On Tuesday, January 25, 2011, at approximately 3:30 p.m., Sperber had completed his second day of training service technicians at the Roland De Pere facility. The trainees were staying at a Best Western Hotel in Green Bay, and had invited him to come and have a drink with them at the hotel. (116:530). He was reluctant, as he had a cold coming on and wasn't feeling well. (116:531). Nonetheless, he drove to the hotel and arrived a little before 4:00 p.m. (116:532). Between 4:00 p.m. and when he left at 5:30 p.m., he had three drinks. (116:532-533). By his own account, he did not feel intoxicated. (116:578). He typically ate all day during trainings. (115:497). One of his students testified he did not appear intoxicated, thick tongued or unsteady. (115:374).

Sperber left the hotel at about 5:30 p.m., eventually ending up on Velp Avenue heading west. (116:534). He was in a

In fact, Sperber made a series of phone calls near the time of the accident, and by all accounts sounded "normal." At 5:31 p.m. he called his wife (115:482; 116:544); at 5:37 p.m. and again at 6:48 p.m. he called a colleague about a work-related mechanics competition he was involved with (115:462-463; 116:544); and at 6:46 p.m. he called his training manager. (115:468-469; 116:546).

company vehicle, a white Ford F-150 pick-up truck with a white Velp is a U.S. Highway designated fourtopper. (116:549). lane artery with no shoulder. The curbs were covered with blackened snow banks which intruded two feet into the roadway. (114:274). It was rush hour, moreover, and the traffic was heavy, with cars behind him and on the left. (116:537) The roadway was dark and wet.² (116:535). While traveling in the right lane, Sperber hit what he assumed to be one of the larger type garbage cans used for automatic pickup just as he passed Gallagher street.³ (116:536). He saw something move to the right. (116:582). He tried to move to the left lane but couldn't because a car was there. (116:582). He maneuvered left but stayed in the right lane. (116:582). He did not stop on Velp, but continued less than a 100 feet to Lyndon, the next available street to the right. (116:537-538) (see map, A:21). He turned on Lyndon--a short street--and followed it down to Mary, where he found light from a house situated on the corner to his right. (116:537-538, 582). He got out of the truck on the driver's side, walked around the front to the right front side, and noticed some damage to the grille. (116:539, 584) He believed something hit his right front tire but was not able to fully inspect it. (116:541, 588). He then got back in the truck, took a right on Mary to Shea, took Shea back to Velp (now east of the accident site) and then went left on Velp (east) towards main street. (116:539-540). He looked left and right when he turned on Velp, but could not see the point of impact from that location. (116:599).

The truck was driving fine but Sperber was concerned about the tire. He had decided to go east on Velp rather than continue west as he could pick-up the road north either way and going east he had the option of stopping at Pomp's Tire. (116:541). By the time he got to Webster Street, however, he

² Sunset was at 4:51 p.m. (114:273).

³ Sperber conceded the white truck that hit the wheelchair was his. (116:549).

noticed the tire indicator was reading normal and the engine wasn't overheating, so he took Webster to I-43 and I-43 to 54/57 north. (116:542).

There were three eyewitness to the collision: Melissa Wolcanski, Daniel Emmel, and Jeffrey Holl.

Melissa Wolcanski was about four car-lengths directly behind Sperber in the right lane. (115:444). She saw Sperber's brake lights come on but he did not stop. (115:445, 454, 455). She did not see anything fly up in front of the truck or anything else to suggest a collision. (115:448). She turned into the left lane to go around him. She then saw a wheelchair in the road but did not see a person. (115:443, 445-446). Just as she passed Sperber's truck, she saw him turn onto a side street and slow down. (115:446, 452).

Daniel Emmel was heading west on Velp. Just before Gallagher street he saw a man in a wheel chair traveling in the right lane. (114:127). He swerved to miss him and then turned right on Gallagher to drop off a friend. (114:127, 141). He turned around to come back out to Velp, but was delayed waiting for someone to back out of their driveway. (114:127, 141). When he got back to Velp he looked left (east) and right (west). He tried to find the wheelchair but couldn't. (114:127, 131, 142, 143). Just then a white truck drove by heading west on Velp. He appeared to be going the speed limit of 35 mph.⁴ (146). As he passed, Emmel saw the wheelchair in the truck's headlights in the far right lane. (114:128, 132). The white truck "applied brakes, hit the wheel chair, [and] the person in the wheelchair *rolled* 20 yards roughly along the snowbank." (emphasis added). Although Emmel believes the truck driver hit the brakes "hard," road conditions were wet and there were no

9

_

⁴ This was confirmed by the State's accident reconstructionist who testified Sperber was traveling between 34 and 40 m.p.h. (114:266).

tires squealing. (114:144). The truck "momentarily stopped" as it pulled around and then turned right on Lyndon Street.⁵ (114:135). The truck stopped on Lyndon street with the front half of the truck behind a house. Emmel could only see the back half. (114:130-131, 138). Emmel then pulled up to the scene of the accident, put on his four-ways, and dialed 911. (114:103-131). After calling 911 he got out and started walking towards the truck when it drove off. (114:140, 147). He was the only person at the scene at the time. (114:147-148). He could not see the person in the truck; nor could he see if the person was in or out of the truck. (114:148). The wheelchair was lying on its side. (114:133, 137).

Jeffrey Holl was stopped on Gallagher Street facing south towards Velp when he saw a man in a wheelchair directly in front of him crossing Velp from south to north, and then heading west on Velp in the right lane. (114:156, 158, 176). Holl then turned right on Velp and went around the wheelchair. (114:158, 176). He kept watching in his rearview mirror because: "there's a guy in the lane of traffic and it was fairly dark and he was in a wheelchair." (114:172). He was mostly able to see the wheelchair because of the headlights of the vehicle coming behind him. (114:162). That vehicle collided with the back of the wheelchair. (114:165). Both the wheelchair and the person "went airborne," with the body moving more towards the right. (114:163, 165, 166). The truck then paused, went halfway into the left lane, and then turned right on Lyndon. (114:167). He stopped "for a bit" on Lyndon. (114:179). As "soon as [the truck] got past like these houses and stuff, I didn't see any more of him." (114:170).

Paul DeGrave came onto the scene shortly after the accident. (114:194). He stopped and approached the person standing there (presumably Emmel), and asked where the

⁵ In his statement to police, Emmel did not say the white truck stopped on Velp, but rather, stopped momentarily on Lyndon. (114:216).

vehicle was that struck the wheelchair. (114:192). The witness pointed west towards Lyndon Street, where a truck was parked facing north. (114:186, 191). According to DeGrave, he noticed the "silhouette of an individual leaning over his steering wheel and staring back at what was going on in the roadway...." he couldn't tell who it was, but "[t]hey were watching us, just a shadow." (114:191-192). He turned his attention towards the accident scene and when he looked back up, "the truck was pulling away." (114:192, 194). When asked if someone had walked towards the vehicle, DeGrave responded: "Nobody had walked, not that I'm aware of." (114:192).

The next person on the scene was Nicholas Craig, a firefighter traveling westbound Velp. (114:110). He saw a vehicle stopped in the right hand lane with its flashers on, and when he moved to the left to go around, he saw a wheelchair and a person lying on the ground. (114:111-112). He immediately pulled off on to Lyndon Street and focused his attention on assisting the injured man. (114:111-112, 120).

The first police officer on the scene was Ronald Schaden (114:204). He was dispatched at 5:38 p.m. (114:212). When he arrived the wheelchair was tipped on its side. (114:207, 208). The injured man had on black winter gloves; black pants; black multicolored socks; a black and multicolored jacket; and a purple and black checkered shirt. (114:218, 269). The wheelchair was black without any reflective materials. (114:273). He described the accident scene as "kind of dark." When presented with a photo of the scene the state had taken 11 months after the accident⁶, the officer responded: "It wasn't

_

⁶ The State presented a series of photos taken in November of 2011, some 11 months after the accident. See e.g. 52:Ex. 7. The photos were meant to illustrate Sperber's ability to see the wheelchair as he proceeded west on Velp. The amount of illumination differed greatly, however, from the photos taken the night of the accident, which were much darker. See e.g. Ex. 18. Further, they did not include the substantial snow banks present on January 25.

illuminated this well when I was there,...." (114:206). In fact, the closest street lamp was 119 feet from the point of impact, on the other side of the road. (114:269, 273).

2. After The Accident

Sperber arrived home between 6:15 and 6:20 p.m. He told his wife he hit a garbage can on the way home. (116:548). At 6:46 p.m., Sperber called his training supervisor, Michael Bond, and left a voice message reporting the accident. Sperber said he had hit a garbage can or dumpster, and had minor damage. (115:468-469, 116:547). Sperber sounded normal. (115:469). He went to bed between 8:30 and 9:00 p.m. (116:548). Sperber spoke with Bond the next morning at 7:24 a.m. According to Bond, they discussed the damage and how they were going to get it repaired. (115:470). Sperber asked Bond if they should do it in the shop. Bond responded by authorizing an in-house repair. Bond reasoned that the shop wasn't busy, and they would have to pay a \$1,000 deductible anyway if they made a claim on their insurance policy. (115:470, 471, 473). As Roland's general manager explained, the general rule was that if the damage was more than \$1,000, the matter was forwarded to the insurance carrier. If less than \$1,000, it was up to the employee's immediate supervisor to decide how or whether to fix it. (115:360).

At the shop, Sperber asked Brent Richardson, the service manager, if he would assign Adam VandeHey to help him with the repairs. (115:352) Richardson agreed. (115:347). Sperber did not seem worried or nervous. (115:353). Sperber removed the grille and the headlight (116:551), and over the next three days Sperber and VandeHey did the body work when they had time. (114:05). Sperber was still teaching, so he "bounced back and forth" between the classroom and the shop as he was able. (116:552). It was not unusual for Sperber to help as it was his truck. (114:305). In fact, Sperber could have done all the work himself. (114:316; 115:352). He was traveling the next week

on company business, however, so he wanted it fixed before then. (116:556).

Sperber called Dorsch Ford and two other auto parts dealers in Green Bay for a used grille and headlamp. (116:549, 553, 554). None had used parts available. (114:308; 116:554). New parts were around \$600. (114:308; 116:553). Sperber then called Terry Telford, a person in the Milwaukee area he regularly obtained parts from. (115:336, 342, 343). Telford could not find used parts, however, but did offer to get new parts for around \$400. (115:343; 116:554, 555). Richardson also spoke with Telford about getting parts. (115:347). Telford delivered the parts to Sperber over the noon hour on Wednesday, January 27, in Port Washington. (115:340; 116:556, 557).

The State called William Londo, a parts man from Broadway Chevrolet of Green Bay. (114:277) He stated they would have delivered the parts to Roland at the wholesale price of \$415. (114:290). Retail would have been \$561.49. (114:290) When asked, Sperber testified that he didn't call Broadway because they are a Chevrolet dealer. (116:554).

Several witnesses also testified that it would not have been unusual for Sperber to pay for the parts upfront and then get reimbursed with his weekly expense report. (115:357, 361, 472). Sperber never did turn in an expense report, however, because he was waiting for receipts from Telford and was terminated before he had a chance to do so. (116:573).

The body work and painting were done on Wednesday, January 27, but the truck was left in the shop until Thursday so the paint could dry. (116:560). Sperber chose not to repair a pop can sized dent in the bumper as this was just cosmetic and the price of a new bumper wasn't worth it. (114:300; 116:561).

Richardson helped Sperber take the cap off at Roland before Sperber took the truck home on Thursday. (114:319-320;

116:552, 562). He intended to take Friday off and planned on hauling some wood. (114:320; 116:564). Sperber typically took Fridays off during the weeks he did training. (115:488, 498; 116:562). He hadn't been feeling well all week so he called in sick. (114:312; 115:353, 372, 373-374, 383, 464). Because he wasn't feeling well, he spent Thursday night just hanging out at home. (116:561).

On Friday, January 28, the Green Bay Police received an anonymous tip that Mark Sperber was having right-front repairs done at Roland Machine on a vehicle consistent with that identified at the scene. (115:383) According to Det. James Duebner, he and Det. Argall went to Roland and learned that Sperber had called in sick that day. (115:383). They obtained Sperber's address and drove out to his residence, arriving at approximately 10:00 a.m. (116:564). They saw a white truck sitting in the driveway. (115:385). The cap was off and there were woodcutting tools in the back. (115:419). Sperber came out of the garage--he had heard his dogs barking--and met the two detectives. (115:385; 116:564). They asked if he was Mark Sperber and told him they were investigating a hit and run. (115:386). They noted the car had been washed and could smell fresh paint. (115:388). They saw the dent in the bumper. (115:387). They asked Sperber if the damage was fresh and he told them it was, that he had hit a garbage can on Tuesday night. (115:388). They asked if he had replaced any other parts, and he told them he replaced the grille and the headlight. (115:389) Sperber says he got the parts from his residence from a damaged vehicle. (115:390) The detective told Sperber he wasn't buying it because a garbage can would not leave that kind of dent in the bumper. (115:389, 391). It was cold, and he asked Sperber if they could go into the house. (115:391).

Inside the house, the detectives introduced themselves to Sperber's Wife, Kathy, and they gathered around the breakfast bar in the kitchen. (115:490). The interview was not recorded. (115:421). They asked Sperber for a detailed account of what

happened Tuesday night. According to Duebner, Sperber initially denied going to the bar before the accident, but later admitted he had three double scotch and waters. (115:392, 398, 399-400). Duebner also claims he never got a clear answer concerning Sperber's route home after he stopped on Lyndon Street. (115:397) As the interview progressed, both Kathy and Sperber started asking why hitting a garbage can was being treated so seriously. (115:400, 418, 422, 423, 492-493; 116:570). Duebner purposely ignored the question for some time, until he finally told them Sperber had hit a wheelchair. (115:492; 116:570-571). Sperber asked if anyone was in the wheelchair, and Duebner answered there was. (115:493; 116:571). Sperber then asked if the person was OK, and Duebner answered the person had died. (115:400, 494; 116:571). When asked if either of the Sperbers were surprised to hear this information, Duebner answered: "Mrs. Sperber was definitely. Mr. Sperber there was a reaction, whether it was out of surprise or the fact that, you know, if you want to say the cat is out of the bag, for lack of a better term." (115:429) In a previous hearing, Duebner testified that Sperber "appeared a little bit stunned." (115:429). According to Sperber, this was the first he learned he had hit someone. (116:572). Sperber gave the detectives permission to search the house. (116:573). When Duebner told Sperber the businesses at the impact point were abandoned, so there would be no garbage cans; and further, his drinking before an accident was a good motive for hit and run, Sperber asked if he should get a lawyer. (115:401, 403, 404). Sperber called his boss, who told him he had to find his own lawyer. (115:405). Sperber was then arrested, and the truck was seized. (115:405).

Sperber disagreed with some of the Detective's testimony. First, he did not specify to Duebner which parts in particular he had replaced on the truck, nor did he tell them him he got the replacement parts from a damaged vehicle he had at his residence. (116:567, 569) What Sperber did tell Duebner was that he had used *paint* from home that was left over from a

previous repair. (116:567). Second, Sperber did not deny going to the bar, but rather said that he had considered not going. (115:495; 116:569).

According to the forensic examiner, the deceased died from a head injury. He was not run over. (114:228, 233-234).

3. Jury Questions to the Court

The jury was instructed as to the five elements contained in WIS JI 2670. The only element contested at trial, however, was the second. On that element, the Court instructed the jury: "The second element requires that the defendant knew that the vehicle he was operating was involved in an accident involving a person." (116:614-615). The jury was released for deliberation at 1:54 p.m. At 3:05 p.m. the jury came back with a question:

Concerning time (sic) two on the list of rules, does the defendant have to be aware that he hit a person at the time of the accident or in the days following the incident in order to fulfill the requirements for the second item?

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