RECEIVED

07-09-2013

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2013AP358-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MARK ALAN SPERBER,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT AND ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR BROWN COUNTY. MARC A. HAMMER, JUDGE

BRIEF FOR PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN **Attorney General**

THOMAS J. BALISTRERI **Assistant Attorney General** State Bar #1009785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1523 (Phone) (608) 266-9594 (Fax) balistreritj@doj.state.wi.us

ARGUMENT

I. SPERBER FAILED TO PROVE **THAT ATTORNEY** WAS HIS INEFFECTIVE FOR AGREEING THAT THE CIRCUIT COURT SHOULD NOT GIVE THE JURY A SUPPLEMENTAL INSTRUCTION THAT THEY HAD TO FIND HE KNEW HE WAS IN AN ACCIDENT INVOLVING A PERSON AT THE TIME HE LEFT THE SCENE.

The issue on this appeal is not whether the circuit court erred by failing to give the jury a supplemental instruction advising them that before they could convict the defendant-appellant, Mark Alan Sperber, of the crime of failing to give information or render aid following an accident, they had to find that he knew he was involved in an accident involving a person at the time he left the scene without giving information or rendering aid.

Any right to complain that the court erred by failing to give this instruction was waived when Sperber's attorney expressly agreed that no such instruction should be given (116:673, 685-86). State v. Wanta, 224 Wis. 2d 679, 700, 592 N.W.2d 645 (Ct. App. 1999); Bergeron v. State, 85 Wis. 2d 595, 605, 271 N.W.2d 386 (1978). See State v. Lippold, 2008 WI App 130 ¶ 10 n.4, 313 Wis. 2d 699, 757 N.W.2d 825; Wis. Stat. § 805.13(3) (2011-12). See also State v. Mann, 135 Wis. 2d 420, 427, 400 N.W.2d 489 (Ct. App. 1986) (acquiescence in court's answer to jury's question waives right to object).

When the defendant has waived any right to complain about an instructional error, this court is prohibited from directly reviewing the alleged error. *State v. Becker*, 2009 WI App 59, ¶¶ 16-17, 318 Wis. 2d 97, 767 N.W.2d 585; *State v. Marcum*, 166 Wis. 2d 908, 916, 480 N.W.2d 545 (Ct. App. 1992).

Such errors may be reviewed as claims that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to request an instruction or object to its absence. *Becker*, 318 Wis. 2d 97, ¶ 18; *Marcum*, 166 Wis. 2d at 916.

A criminal defendant who claims his attorney was ineffective has a dual burden to prove both that his attorney's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance prejudiced his defense. *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 26, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433; *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 18, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305; *State v. Smith*, 207 Wis. 2d 258, 273, 558 N.W.2d 379 (1997).

A claim of ineffective assistance fails if the defendant fails to prove either one of these requirements. *State v. Williams*, 2006 WI App 212, ¶ 18, 296 Wis. 2d 834, 723 N.W.2d 719; *State v. Taylor*, 2004 WI App 81, ¶ 14, 272 Wis. 2d 642, 679 N.W.2d 893. So claims of ineffective assistance may be disposed of without considering whether counsel performed deficiently when the defendant fails to prove prejudice. *State v. Roberson*, 2006 WI 80, ¶ 28, 292 Wis. 2d 280, 717 N.W.2d 111; *State v. Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 128, 449 N.W.2d 845 (1990).

¹ Sperber correctly states the allocation of the burden of proving prejudice at the beginning of his argument. Brief for Defendant-Appellant at 21. But then he erroneously seems to suggest that the burden is on the state to prove lack of prejudice or harmless error. Brief for Defendant-Appellant at 24-25. Sperber fails to note that while State v. Harvey, 2002 WI 93, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189, does state in ¶ 40, which he cites, that the burden to prove no prejudice is ordinarily on the beneficiary of an error, that case goes on to state in the next paragraph that "in an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the defendant must prove prejudice." Harvey, 254 Wis. 2d 442, ¶ 41. Similarly, Sperber fails to note that while State v. Gordon, 2003 WI 69, 262 Wis. 2d 380, 663 N.W.2d 765, does state in ¶ 40, which he cites, that instructional error is subject to the harmless error rule, that case goes on to state in the next paragraph that its overruling the "automatic reversal rule returns this issue to the realm of *Strickland's*, prejudice analysis, because Gordon's attorney did not object to the omission of the . . . instruction." Gordon, 262 Wis. 2d 380, ¶ 41.

Sperber failed to prove that he was prejudiced by his attorney's failure to request a supplemental instruction specifying the time a defendant must know he was in an accident involving a person.

First, Sperber failed to prove that even in the absence of a supplemental instruction, the jury did not construe the instruction they were given to mean that his knowledge had to be contemporaneous with his departure from the scene of the accident.

Second, Sperber failed to prove that a specific instruction on the need for contemporaneous knowledge would have made any difference in the factual findings actually made by the jury.

A. Sperber Failed To Prove That
The Jury Did Not Construe
The Pattern Instruction They
Were Given To Mean That To
Convict Him They Had To
Find He Knew At The Time
He Left The Scene That He
Had Been Involved In An
Accident Involving A Person.

The jury questioned whether they could convict Sperber of the crime of failing to give information or render aid following an accident, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.67, if they found that he knew he hit a person at any time before he was arrested, or whether they had to find that he knew he hit a person at the time of the accident (51:1-2; 116:669, 684).

The circuit court did not answer the jury's question, but told them to read Wis. JI-Criminal 2670, a copy of which was sent to the jury room, in its entirety (51:1-2; 116:671, 673, 685).

If the jury, on its own, answered their question by correctly construing the pattern instruction to require contemporaneous rather than subsequent knowledge, Sperber could not have been prejudiced by the court's failure to specifically tell them that contemporaneous knowledge is required.

It is not reasonably probable that Sperber was prejudiced because the jury's question, given some thought, basically answers itself. One of their alternatives makes sense. The other does not.

It makes sense to punish someone criminally when he knows that another person is or could have been injured in an accident in which he was involved, but he leaves the scene without attempting to help the person who is or could be injured.

It makes little sense to punish someone criminally for leaving the scene of an accident without rendering aid when he honestly does not know that the accident involved another person who might be injured and in need of assistance.

More than seventy years ago the supreme court assumed that contemporaneous knowledge was required.

In *Sharp v. State*, 241 Wis. 67, 4 N.W.2d 136 (1942), a driver who left the scene of an accident without assisting a person she had injured claimed she was unaware at the time that anyone was hurt, and did not learn she had injured anyone until she read it in the newspaper the next day. *Sharp*, 241 Wis. at 70.

Noting that an obvious purpose of the hit-and-run statute is to require a driver who was involved in causing a personal injury to provide immediate assistance so that the injured person could get attention with the least possible delay, the court held that the evidence was sufficient to convict Sharp because the trier of fact was not obligated to accept as true her claim that she did not know at the time

she left the scene that her car had hit anyone. *Sharp*, 241 Wis. at 70-71. Sharp's knowledge about the injury the next day was not found sufficient to convict her.

If the supreme court could effortlessly assume from the obvious purpose of the statute that contemporaneous knowledge is required for conviction, and that subsequent knowledge is not enough, reasonable jurors could figure it out too.

Indeed, Sperber himself argues that "[a]ny timeframe beyond the ability to stop and render aid at the scene would implicate vagueness" Brief for Defendant-Appellant at 26 n.8. "In order to stop and render aid [in compliance with the obvious purpose of the statute] defendant's knowledge would have to be contemporaneous with the accident." Brief for Defendant-Appellant at 25-26.

More than twenty years ago this court discerned that the clear purpose of the statute envisions a reasonable person standard for determining whether a driver rendered reasonable assistance to a person injured in an accident. *State v. Swatek*, 178 Wis. 2d 1, 7, 502 N.W.2d 909 (Ct. App. 1993).

Reasonable jurors could have the same vision of the law considering the obvious purpose of the hit-and-run statute.

Under a reasonable person standard, a driver who knew that another person could have been injured in an accident would have reason to stop, while a driver who did not honestly know that another person could have been injured would have no reason to stop. Thus, reasonable jurors could conclude that the statute imposed criminal liability on the former but not the latter for not stopping.

Beyond common sense, the pattern instruction, read reasonably, adequately advises jurors that they

cannot convict a defendant for leaving the scene of an accident without rendering aid unless the defendant leaves knowing that a person may need help.

The first thing the instruction tells jurors is that Wis. Stat. § 346.67 is violated when, among other things, a driver who is involved in an accident resulting in the death of or injury to any person fails to immediately stop at the scene and render assistance to any person injured in the accident. Wis. JI-Criminal 2670 at 1.

In accord with this definition of the offense, jurors are told the state must prove that the defendant did not immediately stop at the scene of the accident and render reasonable assistance to a person injured in the accident. Wis. JI-Criminal 2670 at 2.

Being advised that the crime is completed when the defendant leaves the scene of an accident without stopping, a reasonable jury would understand that the offense is concerned solely with what happens at the scene of the accident at the time it occurs, not what may happen some time or place later after the crime has already been committed.

Jurors are also told the state must prove that the defendant knew the vehicle he was operating was involved in an accident involving a person. Wis. JI-Criminal 2670 at 1.

Understanding that the crime with which the defendant is charged is concerned solely with what happens at the scene of the accident at the time it occurs, jurors would reasonably conclude that the state must prove the defendant knew at the scene of the accident at the time it occurred, before he left the scene, that the vehicle he was operating was involved in an accident involving a person.

Obversely, reasonable jurors would know that what may or may not happen after the defendant already

commits the crime by failing to stop at the scene of an accident is irrelevant, so that it does not matter if the defendant learns after he has left the scene that he had injured another person. What is critical is whether the defendant knows he could have injured another person at the time he leaves the scene.

Although the Criminal Jury Instructions Committee is not infallible, they usually get it right. *See State v. Foster*, 191 Wis. 2d 14, 27, 528 N.W.2d 22 (Ct. App. 1995).

In *State v. Hartnek*, 146 Wis. 2d 188, 195, 430 N.W.2d 361 (Ct. App. 1988), this court cited with approval the pattern instruction's treatment of the element of knowledge. *See also Mann*, 135 Wis. 2d at 426 (Wis. JI-Criminal 2670 fairly and adequately informs jury of elements of offense).

Although the jury could have understood the pattern instruction without help, the correct statement of the law was previewed by the prosecutor in his opening statement.

The prosecutor told the jury that the conduct for which Sperber was charged was not hitting the victim, John Kennedy, but "leaving John after you hit him" (113:84). The prosecutor said the state had to prove that Sperber "knew he hit John Kennedy in the wheelchair. . . . [I]t's not fair to charge someone with hit and run causing homicide if they didn't know they hit anybody. . . . So throughout this case, the State will consistently come back to the idea that the defendant knew he hit John" (113:84).

The state's theory of prosecution, that Sperber knew when he left Kennedy that he had hit Kennedy, was reiterated in the state's closing argument where the prosecutor urged the jury to find that when Sperber "realized what he had done he took off," to find that Sperber "hit John Kennedy, knew it and left him" (116:630, 636).

Although a court can appropriately modify the pattern jury instructions when necessary to fully and fairly state the law, *Foster*, 191 Wis. 2d at 27, a court can also direct the jury to re-read the pattern instruction when the jury asks for clarification. *State v. Hubbard*, 2008 WI 92, ¶ 57, 313 Wis. 2d 1, 752 N.W.2d 839.

Sperber failed to prove that he was prejudiced when the court, with his attorney's approval, told the jury to re-read Wis. JI-Criminal 2670 to determine when a defendant has to know he was in an accident which could have injured another person.

Sperber failed to prove that the result of his trial would have been any different if his attorney had requested a supplemental instruction specifically advising the jury that they had to find Sperber's knowledge was contemporaneous with the accident because Sperber has not proved that the jury probably did not construe Wis. JI-Criminal 2670 to require contemporaneous knowledge despite the absence of such advice from the court.

B. Sperber Failed To Prove That A Specific Instruction On The Need For Contemporaneous Knowledge Would Have Made Any Difference In The Factual Findings Actually Made By The Jury.

The second reason why Sperber failed to prove he was prejudiced by the failure to request and recite a supplemental instruction on the need for contemporaneous knowledge is that Sperber failed to show that such an instruction would have made any difference in the factual findings actually made by the jury. Sperber failed to prove that even without such an instruction the jury based his conviction on anything other than a finding that he knew when he left the scene of the accident that he had hit another person.

Sperber's lengthy discussion of the evidence on which a jury might have found that he did not know he hit another person is beside the point. Of course there was evidence on which the jury might have made such a finding, but they didn't.

The jury convicted Sperber, which means they found that he did know he hit another person. So the only question, in light of the jury's queries, is whether they found that Sperber knew he hit another person before he left the scene of the accident or whether they found that Sperber learned that he hit another person sometime after he left but before he was confronted by the police (51:1-2; 116:669, 684).

In fact, no reasonable jury could have found that Sperber learned he hit another person sometime after he left the scene of the accident but before he was confronted by the police because there is no evidence in the record which would support any such finding. Indeed, the only evidence is to the contrary.

Sperber testified at the trial that he was surprised when the investigating officer told him that he had hit a person in a wheelchair (116:571).

Sperber testified that that was the first time he realized he had hit a person (116:572). Sperber said that up to that point he had no idea that that had happened and that he had always thought he hit a garbage can (116:571-72).

Sperber denied that he had seen any media coverage of the accident throughout the week (116:572).

Sperber suggests that because of the media coverage of the accident there was a "clear implication that Sperber should have at least heard about it in the days after the accident and put two and two together." Brief for Defendant-Appellant at 28 n.10.

But the only inference that could be drawn from the fact that there was media coverage of the accident is that Sperber could have learned about the details of the accident from the media. It could not be inferred that Sperber did in fact learn about the details of the accident from the media.

And in any event, no reasonable jury would have drawn any such inference in light of Sperber's express testimony that he did not hear about the accident through the media coverage, and that he did not put two and two together before that math was done for him by the police.

On the other hand, there was plenty of evidence from which the jury could find that Sperber knew at the time he left the scene of the accident that he had hit another person.

Another driver who was stopped on a side street waiting to cross the street on which Sperber was driving saw in Sperber's headlights Sperber's vehicle hit a person in a wheelchair (114:128, 132). If a person with a side view could see Sperber's vehicle hit a person in a wheelchair, then Sperber with a front view should have seen his vehicle hit that person too.

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